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The Soundtrack of Southern Victory


It was supposed to be the battle that would end the war. Lighthearted congressmen and other Washington dignitaries drove out in their carriages to the Virginia countryside to see the show. The summer weather was uncharacteristically temperate. July 21, 1861, was the perfect day for a picnic.


Irvin McDowell’s Union army made a leisurely progress to the battlefield, falling out for berry picking and discarding such weighty impedimenta of war as packs and even cartridge boxes. Their objective was Manassas Junction, a strategic railroad hub a few miles behind Bull Run: a slow, mostly shallow stream with a formidable southern bank where the Confederates were waiting. Each side had the same plan: Attack the enemy’s right flank.


McDowell’s actually worked. Feinting to his left near the spot where the Stone Bridge crossed the stream, he sent his attacking force around like a powerful right hook, crossing Bull Run to the northwest, then driving the Confederates southeast over the rolling Piedmont hills.


General Thomas J. Jackson was behind Bull Run on the Confederate right, waiting to participate in an attack that never materialized. Acting on his own, without orders, he moved toward the sound of the guns.
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The northern Virginia traffic wasn’t half bad. It only took one click for me to get through most of the lights on 234, the developer road that runs from I-95 northwest to Manassas. The site of the war’s first big battle was also the first stop in my quest to gain a deeper understanding of Stonewall Jackson. I’ve been fascinated with him for years, ever since I found out he marched down the road in front of my house. An incredible fighter, complex and contradictory, he’s a puzzle I’ve never completely put together. I’d recently been asked to write a book about him. I relished the task.


I stopped at the town’s small museum, parking in the shade before going inside to check out the exhibits and ask directions to Manassas Junction.


Inside, the fighting’s aftermath leapt out at me more than anything about the battle itself. Battles, actually—there were two on almost exactly the same field. First Manassas in July 1861; Second in August 1862. Jackson was a major player in both.


In one exhibit, local resident Marianne E. Compton wrote about coming back into her house, which had been turned into a field hospital: “All the lower part of the house was filled with wounded. We walked through a lane of ghastly horrors on our way upstairs. Amputated legs and arms seemed everywhere. We saw a foot… lying on one of our dinner plates.”


“You see that?” A young mother near me pointed out a cannonball to her pre-kindergarteners. “Your granddaddy used to find those and roll them down the driveway.” Then, more to herself than to her kids: “I guess he should have saved them.”


I purchased a Manassas fridge magnet. Neither the cashier nor the docent knew the location of the junction. Less than a mile away, the reason for the town and the reason for the battle—it was like a tour guide in Rome not knowing the location of the Coliseum.


“Lived here all my life and never been to this museum,” the young mother told them as I was leaving.
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“Look out for your left, your position is turned,” Captain Edward Porter Alexander had signaled Colonel Nathan “Shanks” Evans when he saw a strong marching column crossing Bull Run at Sudley Ford.1 Evans interposed his small—900-man—force in front of 20,000 advancing Federals, buying time but ultimately being beaten back, as were other holding actions by Brigadier General Barnard Bee and Colonel Francis S. Bartow. The Confederates retreated from Matthews Hill, over Buck Hill, and up Henry House Hill, outnumbered and dispirited.


Jackson, on the Confederate right, moved here and there in response to confusing orders from the excitable General Pierre Gustave Toutant Beauregard, the “Hero of Sumter,” who shared command with General Joseph E. Johnston. Finally intuiting that the fight was elsewhere, Jackson marched his 2,800 men to Henry House Hill, arriving there around noon. Southerners retreated past him as he placed his men behind the crest of the hill, an ideal defensive position.


General Bee rode up. “The enemy are driving us!” he told Jackson.


“Then, sir, we will give them the bayonet.”
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The shade had moved from my car, but the heat that came out was only moderately ovenlike when I opened the door. Perfectly evocative of the battle: a mere eighty degrees, mild for a Virginia summer, and a great day for the spectators who had come out from D.C. to watch the saucy Rebels get whipped.2


As I drove I reflected on the young mother’s grandfather and his cannonballs, and on all the other stories I’d heard about exploding Civil War ordnance. A history teacher at the high school near my house lost a couple of fingers when he was drilling out a shell to remove the powder so he could sell the artifact through the mail. He was lucky: In 2008, a relic hunter named Sam White lost his life when a shell he was disarming exploded, sending shrapnel into him and into the porch of a house a quarter of a mile away.3


Like the cannonballs, long-dormant issues had become explosive because of the recent murder of nine African American parishioners at a church in Charleston, South Carolina. The massacre was particularly horrifying because the victims had opened their hearts to their attacker by welcoming him into their Bible study. The killer, Dylann Roof, a white supremacist, had been photographed with the Rebel flag. A national outcry arose to eradicate it, and other symbols of the Confederacy, from public life. Confederate statues were vandalized. Some officials called for them to be razed or relocated. In New Orleans, Mayor Mitch Landrieu said the first step was to declare them a public nuisance.


I turned on WPFW, “Jazz and Justice Radio,” out of D.C. A talk show host asked her audience what they thought about the Charleston congregation forgiving the murderer. Her listeners wanted nothing to do with it.


“I’m tired of these people hiding inside their churches!” said one.


“We’ve got to be more militant!” asserted another. The host asked her to elaborate but she hung up.


I turned off the radio, distressed by thoughts of the tragedy as well as by the fact that a subject I loved—Confederate military history—had become a pawn in the culture wars.


I found an intriguing historic site near an elementary school and parked to look around.


The Jennie Dean Memorial was where the Manassas Industrial School for Colored Youth had stood until some fifty years ago. Civil War and African American historical sites are often as close geographically as the intertwining issues posed by both. Dean, a former slave, was an educator and church founder who died in 1913. I explored the five-acre site, looking at photos and models of spacious, handsome buildings endowed by Northern philanthropists, wondering if demolishing them had been politically motivated—local officials eradicating a source of black pride and symbol of interracial cooperation—or simply a necessity because of structural decay.


As I was getting ready to leave, I discovered a historic marker about Manassas Junction. With its map in my head, I walked to the tracks.


Railroad ties are shorter apart than a full stride, so you have to take mincing steps if you walk on them, or stumble along on the big stones of the roadbed if you don’t. I alternated between mincing and stumbling, my awkward strides echoing my attempts to make sense of the issues surrounding Jackson, slavery, and the Civil War.


Slavery was the cause of the war. It was a terrible institution. But for most Confederates, protecting their homes and families was a far more powerful motivator. There was nothing abstract about it—“home” often meant their actual houses. To relate just one incident: When Captain Edward Stevens McCarthy of the Richmond Howitzers was killed by a sharpshooter during the Battle of Cold Harbor in 1864, his “men broke down utterly and sobbed like children.” His cousin procured an ambulance and carried the body to the family home in Richmond, about a dozen miles away. After he returned, he sent word to the captain’s two brothers. They walked into town, attended the funeral, “and walked out again to their posts the same night.”4


As a teacher, I dealt with the legacy of slavery, first in the Richmond public schools, then in juvenile prisons. Every day I confronted its consequences, the result of the segregation and poverty into which slavery had evolved. These ranged from the merely sad (an elementary school teacher confiding that most of the inner-city students I took on a field trip had never left their neighborhoods) to the truly horrifying—an incarcerated young man talking about how he was traumatized when he saw his first dead body, a drug dealer splayed over an alley fence, but after he saw another, and another, and another, it didn’t even faze him: “I just keep on steppin’.”


And here was the junction, the two tracks coming together. It looks like nothing much today, just as it looked like nothing much in 1861. I took some photos with my phone while recalling a quote from historian Bruce Catton: “This war went by a queer script of its own, and it had a way of putting all of its weight down on some utterly unimportant little spot that no one had ever heard of before—Shiloh Church, or Chancellorsville, or some such—and because armies contended for them, those place names became great and terrible.”5 He was writing about Cold Harbor, a nondescript crossroads near where I live northeast of Richmond, but what he said applied equally to Manassas: just a place where a couple of railroads came together, and where thousands of men died.


I started back to my car, suddenly worried about railroad detectives and Homeland Security—the junction is still an important part of national infrastructure—at the same time thinking I was ridiculously paranoid. The yard crew moving cars with the Norfolk & Southern switch engine paid me absolutely no attention. I was just some old white guy out where he shouldn’t be.
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What Jackson did at Henry House Hill was inspired. Other units rushed in to stop the Union charge but only slowed the Federals briefly until they were rolled up like the rest. The retreat turned into a rout, and Bee, Bartow, and the others spilled past Jackson and his men on the far side of the hill. There, somewhat protected from Union muskets and artillery, he waited for the Federals to come to him.


After his conference with Jackson, Bee went back to his men: “There stands Jackson like a stone wall! Let us resolve to die here, and we will conquer. Rally behind the Virginians!”


Like so much else about Jackson, the statement is controversial. Some historians say Bee spoke other words. Others contend he spoke out of annoyance rather than admiration: Jackson was anchored like a wall on the field, not coming to his aid. It’s impossible to know—Bee was mortally wounded shortly thereafter. The salient point is that Jackson emerged from First Manassas as “Stonewall.” And in truth, “the most famous nickname in American military history” is only partially apt. While Jackson could certainly hold a position, he became far more famous as the war went on for moving quickly and quietly, then suddenly striking from a point where he was least expected—more like the snake in the stone wall than the wall itself.


Coming onto the field, Generals Johnston and Beauregard took in the situation. They began reorganizing the confused soldiers they encountered and placing them in line with Jackson. Jackson himself rode slowly and confidently along his line, seemingly unconcerned that he was an easy target for the fire that had most of his men lying “flat as flounders”6 on the ground. “Steady men, steady,” he kept repeating. “All’s well.”


Among Jackson’s many eccentric habits was his tendency to lift an arm into the air. This started at West Point with the belief that one arm was heavier than the other. To remedy it, “he would occasionally raise his arm straight up, as he said, to let the blood run back into his body, and so relieve the excess weight.”7 By the time of the war, the habit seems to have become associated with prayer, the uplifted limb amplifying and focusing his petitions, a broadcast antenna pointing toward heaven.


While talking to artillerist John D. Imboden, Jackson thrust his arm into the air. A moment later he caught a bullet or piece of shrapnel, and brought his bloodied hand down, the middle finger shattered.


“General, you are wounded,” exclaimed Imboden.


“Only a scratch, a mere scratch,” Jackson said. He wrapped his injured finger in a handkerchief and resumed riding quietly along his line.8
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Confederate resistance, anchored by Jackson, continued to stiffen. The Southerners were aided by a curious lack of aggressive follow-through from Union general McDowell. For a few vital hours he did almost nothing to cement the victory that he strongly believed was within his grasp.9


The fighting raged back and forth. General Bee was mortally wounded. Bartow was wounded slightly and had his horse shot out from under him. Undaunted, he obtained another horse. “Boys, follow me!” he shouted, waving his cap over his head. He was shot again and died moments later in the arms of a fellow officer.


McDowell decided to apply more artillery pressure to Jackson’s part of the line. He sent two Union batteries forward to try to fire into the Confederates from the flank. Federal captains James B. Ricketts and Charles Griffin advanced and took up a position close to the Southerners and dueled with Jackson’s artillery. Then Captain Griffin bravely but foolishly moved his guns even closer. James Ewell Brown—“Jeb”—Stuart was nearby. He sent word back to Jackson of their vulnerable proximity.


Jackson reacted with one of his characteristic expressions: “That’s good! That’s good!” He gave the word for Stuart to attack the battery. Stuart’s horsemen charged into the infantry supporting the guns. The Federals broke and ran. Another Southern regiment, the 33rd Virginia, charged the artillery. In this early stage of the war, these Confederates were wearing blue. Confusion bought them time and contributed to the success of their assault. The guns were captured! But the Confederates couldn’t hold them. The batteries would be captured and recaptured three times before the fighting was over.


McDowell outnumbered the Confederates two to one on this part of the field. Now he brought his numbers to bear with a massive assault. “Reserve your fire until they come within fifty yards!” Jackson instructed his men. “Then fire and give them the bayonet! And when you charge, yell like furies!”


The Federals crested the hill. Concentrated fire from Jackson’s infantry and artillery sent them reeling back. They re-formed, tried again, and failed. A third charge brought them within a few feet of the Confederate line. This was also beaten back.


It was now 3:30 in the afternoon. The Union drive had stalled and stopped. Beauregard ordered a counterattack. Jackson’s men spearheaded the assault. Confederates charged forward, “yelling like furies.” The first Rebel yell was the soundtrack of a gathering Southern victory. While the fighting would surge back and forth for another hour, the tide had turned. Adding to the momentum, Confederate reinforcements arrived from the Shenandoah Valley on the Manassas Gap Railroad.


It was almost five o’clock when McDowell ordered a retreat. Inexperienced Federal troops did not have the skill for orderly withdrawal. Exhausted, with screaming Southern maniacs bearing down, the Union army’s retreat became a rout. Confederate artillery urged the bluecoats along. Soldiers discarded weapons and knapsacks and anything else that would slow them down, then got tangled up with picnicking dignitaries, who were heading back to Washington as fast as they could travel.


The Confederates, equally exhausted and disorganized, did not press their advantage, and so the battle ended.
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Jackson rode to a field hospital to get his wounded finger dressed. The surgeons, as usual, recommended amputation. Jackson remounted and rode away. He found Dr. Hunter McGuire, the head of his medical division, who told him he thought the finger could be saved and bound it up.


Jackson’s arm was in a sling when he encountered Confederate president Jefferson Davis at Young’s Branch, a modest stream near the foot of Henry House Hill. Davis had stood the suspense as long as he could, then took a train from Richmond to see how the battle was going. As he approached, he encountered stragglers who told him the day was lost. When he saw Jackson and other soldiers, he thought they were demoralized troops.


“I am President Davis,” he shouted. “All of you who are able, follow me back to the field.”


Jackson at first did not understand who it was. Dr. McGuire explained it was the president.


“We have whipped them!” Some say he spoke it to McGuire; others say he shouted it to Davis. “Give me ten thousand men and I will take Washington tomorrow.”
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Young’s Branch wasn’t very formidable when I visited in the summer of 2015. I crossed on a couple of flat rocks without getting my feet wet. There was an interesting wayside exhibit about Jackson, the meeting with Davis, and the 10,000 men with whom he was going to take D.C. The sound of the stream was a pleasant counterweight to thoughts of Jackson’s aggression, only one part of his multifaceted character. I mulled over some of the relevant points as I continued on a path that traced Jackson’s route to the military crest of Henry House Hill.


Jackson’s piety was the stuff of legend, but his Christian principles did not keep him from killing Yankees or executing his own men. He’d started an African American Sunday school in Lexington, defying public opinion and Virginia law to teach slaves to read so they could study the Bible, yet he went to war to preserve the institution of slavery. An eccentric and ineffective professor at the Virginia Military Institute—“perhaps the worst teacher in the history of the institution,” according to a talk I once heard by biographer James I. Robertson Jr.—he was suddenly the best of the best when war came, mounting astonishing campaigns that are still studied today. Another factor of his fascinating legacy: his synergistic relationship with Robert E. Lee. Their partnership was greater than the sum of its parts, reversing, for a time, the North’s vast advantages in men and matériel. When Jackson died, Lee lost far more than a hard-hitting corps commander. His death presaged the death of the Confederacy.


I rested on a bench beside a swampy stream. Four cross-country girls ran past, their long, easy stride a mockery of my plodding. One of them was Asian, and I meditated briefly about what Jackson would make of our present-day diversity. As a profound student of the Bible, hundreds of scriptural exhortations against injustice would have seeped into his soul. In addition, he would have been very aware of the implications of stories like the one in Acts 8 that reveal that the first non-Jewish convert to Christianity was an Ethiopian.


A young black man ran past, shirt off, sweat streaming. At the height of fitness and getting fitter: A backpack filled with weights bounced and clanked as he ran. I gave him a fist up in sincere admiration. He returned my salute, albeit halfheartedly, and continued up the path.


Only a small percentage of battlefield visitors come to study the war. The National Park Service preserves over five thousand acres of land associated with First and Second Manassas. It’s a rural oasis amid suburban sprawl, where miles of town houses, relentless traffic, and indistinguishable big-box malls create a hellish Nowhere that seems to go on forever. For many in the surrounding burbs, the history park is one of the only places to get away.


A latter-day beatnik with a Maynard G. Krebs goatee and a narrow-brimmed, jauntily feathered straw hat strolled past, shortly followed by a middle-aged man in a Walking Dead T-shirt with a yellow Lab on a leash. They exhausted my interest in present-day humanity.
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I’ve had a deep and abiding interest in the Civil War in general and Jackson in particular since the mid-1980s. My mother died around the same time as my grandparents, along with several others who were close, and a huge void opened in my life. At the time, I was teaching a volunteer creative writing class at the old Virginia State Penitentiary in Richmond. The class met in the library, and during a break I idly picked Bruce Catton’s A Stillness at Appomattox off the shelf. I opened it at random and started reading about Totopotomoy Creek, which is just down the hill from my house in Hanover County.


“Hey, can I borrow this?” I asked an inmate, Evans Hopkins, a former Black Panther with whom I am still friends. “It’s talking about my neighborhood.”


“You take that book,” he said.


So, a stolen book from the penitentiary led me into the Civil War. I devoured Stillness, which was the third volume in a set, went back and read the first two, then read Stillness again. Catton writes from a Northern perspective. My interest deepened when I found books that took a Southern point of view. Everything I picked up seemed to be about places I already knew well or could easily visit. Jackson was intertwined with almost all of them.


He camped just over a mile away after he marched down the road in front of my house in 1862. His performance at the subsequent Seven Days Battles was uncharacteristically mediocre, one of the first of a host of intriguing anomalies that, along with the local connection, kept me returning again and again to studies of his life. Years later, when I wrote a handful of articles for the New York Times “Disunion” series, three of the four were about Jackson. A New York editor, Sean Desmond, saw them and urged me to write this book. I jumped at the chance. I was, of course, eager to be published, but even more eager to undertake a project that would allow me to dig deeper into an interest that had consumed me for three decades.


I wanted to understand what drew me to Jackson, to the Civil War, and to the past; I wanted to understand Stonewall, his contradictions, secretiveness, and incredible fighting ability. From the beginning I knew I would need to do more than research him on the page. I would also go where he’d lived and fought. “In great deeds, something abides,” said Joshua Lawrence Chamberlain. “On great fields, something stays.” Ecumenically taking my cue from that great Yankee general, I would go to those great fields to try and find that something. I would, as he said later, “ponder and dream” in those places where “spirits linger… the vision place of souls.”


Chamberlain’s 1888 speech dedicating the 20th Maine monuments at Gettysburg is probably history’s most eloquent assertion of the importance of battlefields. A less mystical version of the truism states that “you can’t know the battle unless you walk the ground.” Visiting and revisiting the sites is absolutely essential to understanding what happened there. What I didn’t realize when I started was how much of the present gathers around these places. I would learn as much about modern America as I would about the past; as much about myself as I did about Jackson. And, of course, at the end, I would be left with more questions than when I started.
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After the Battle


The heavens weep over every bloody battlefield,”1 wrote Jackson’s youngest staff member, Henry Kyd Douglas. First Manassas was no exception. That night soldiers wandered the field in the rain looking for fallen comrades. For most, it was their first exposure to the grim aftermath of battle. Lanterns revealed mangled corpses whose ghastly contortions did not protect them from looting. Some of the wounded begged for water. Others cried, cursed, or screamed. It was a scene that would be repeated, with minor variations, throughout the war.


Rain continued the following day. The dead were buried in the mud. It was Monday, Jackson’s letter-writing day. It would take more than a major battle to disrupt his routine. The pious Jackson would not write or even read personal letters on Sundays. He even disliked the thought of them being in transit on the Lord’s Day, and therefore timed his correspondence accordingly. In his tent in the rain, nursing his wounded finger, he wrote his beloved wife, Anna, as well as his Lexington pastor, Dr. William S. White.


Both letters reveal the inner man. To Anna, he wrote that he knew exactly what he had done and exactly what he deserved, even though recognition for him was anything but universal at the time: “Whilst great credit is due to other parts of our gallant army, God made my brigade more instrumental than any other in repulsing the main attack. This is for your information only—say nothing about it. Let others speak praise, not myself.”2


Jackson could be forgiven a healthy dose of ego—albeit masked—at this point in his career. He had spent a decade at VMI as a teacher, a profession for which he had no gifts. Then suddenly, with the war, he came into his own: commanding, organizing, fighting. He was world-class, and must have known it. Everyone would know it as the war went on.


The letter to Pastor White arrived when the entire South was in a fever to learn details of the battle. “Now we shall know all the facts!” proclaimed Dr. White to the crowd at the post office when he recognized Jackson’s handwriting. “My dear pastor,” he read. “In my tent last night, after a fatiguing day’s service, I remembered that I had failed to send you my contribution for our colored Sunday school. Enclosed you will find a check…”


That was it, the “fatiguing day’s service” the only mention of the battle.


A terrible teacher, but a pillar of his church and a man whose inner life was as rich as his public persona was one-dimensional, Jackson must have felt the power of his transformation, his meteoric rise, and the sudden certainty that he had finally found his calling and was excellent at it. Alone in his tent, rain pattering on the canvas—we can easily imagine the religious part of his personality struggling to integrate with the power surging through him.
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Jackson owned six slaves. Two of them had asked him to buy them. A third was given to him by “an aged widow.… Emma was a four-year-old orphan with some degree of learning disability.” The others were wedding presents. Wrote S. C. Gwynne, “Jackson’s relationships with his own slaves illustrate the relative complexity of a system that was often seen by Northerners in the stark terms portrayed in Harriet Beecher Stowe’s 1852 book Uncle Tom’s Cabin.”3 Jackson’s detractors would have trouble fitting him into the Simon Legree mold.


“Jackson neither apologized for nor spoke in favor of the practice of slavery,” wrote James I. Robertson. “He probably opposed the institution.”4
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I followed the path out of the woods and crossed a grassy field, trying to imagine Jackson and his men deploying amid whizzing musket balls and exploding shells. An arc of artillery pieces approximated the spacing and position of his cannon. Their barrels were hot from the sun. A bluebird perched on the end of one like a gunsight.


I continued walking. Suddenly JACKSON pierced the horizon, the bronze statue rising out of the ground as I walked up the hill. Larger than life, on a ten-foot pedestal, he’s the focal point of this part of the park and an active mystery. JACKSON—statuary inscriptions are inevitably all caps—doesn’t look like Jackson. Hand on hip, cape billowing, he theatrically faces the long-vanished foe. His uniform barely contains the bulge of his muscles. Even his horse, Little Sorrel, looks like he’s been lifting weights.


Joining the crowd around the pedestal I read: THERE STANDS JACKSON LIKE A STONE WALL. A kid giggled at his discovery that the horse was anatomically correct. Tourists took cell phone shots from all angles. A war bore rehashed the controversy of exactly what General Bee meant: Was Jackson heroically immovable under fire, or like a stone wall in his refusal to help?


Sculpted at the end of the Depression, with World War II looming on the horizon, the statue resembles Superman, who had just appeared in Action Comics #1. A hero for that time—each generation creates the heroes it needs—JACKSON looks like he could take on the Axis as he had the Yankees, then clean up the economic mess for good measure. Even more disturbing, he bears a strong resemblance to the grandiose heroes of pre–World War II Nazi and Soviet propaganda art.5 I heard later that “Stonewall on steroids” was a characterization current among the rangers.


It was a while after I visited when I was saddened to read that on October 4, 2017, Manassas’s Jackson statue was vandalized. According to a Fredericksburg.com post for that day: “White paint was splashed on the granite base of the monument and the word ‘Dead!’ was added in gold spray paint.”


The Confederacy makes a spectacularly easy target. Everyone who fought for it has been dead since the middle of the last century.
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I walked to the visitor center, refilled my water bottle, then walked back past JACKSON and through the artillery line into the woods. There were hardly any pedestrians now and I alternated between thinking of the past and dreading the two-plus-hour drive home. I startled a couple of deer feeding in an adjacent field, then became aware that I’d been hearing traffic on nearby interstate Route 66 for some time. A sign for “Portici” pointed me toward a field on my left.


Portici was named for a town precariously located at the foot of Mount Vesuvius in Italy. Portici the town burned during an eruption in 1631. Portici the house burned several times before the war and the owner whimsically named it for the town. It was Joseph E. Johnston’s headquarters during the battle, a hospital afterward, and burned for a final time in 1862.6 A foundation remains today, accompanied by a National Park Service interpretive sign. The surrounding fields were being cut the day of my visit.


Captain James B. Ricketts led one of the artillery units mauled by Jackson on Henry House Hill. Wounded in the thigh, he was brought to Portici after the battle. His wife, Fannie, came from Washington to help him a few days later. “Oh, nothing, no words can describe the horrors around me,” she wrote in her journal. “Two men dead and covered with blood are carried down the stairs as I waited to let them pass. On the table in the open hall a man was undergoing amputation of the leg, at the foot of the stairs two bloody legs lay and through it all I went to my husband.” She nursed him there, and later in Richmond where he was sent as a prisoner until he was exchanged.7


Ricketts, just one bit of collateral damage from Jackson’s success; Portici, scene of horror and heroism, just one of the way stations along his route to the battlefield.


I was called back to the present by watching birds—swifts, I think—following the mower for the insects, chirping ecstatically as they flew. A herd of Harleys rumbled by on I-66. The war seemed long ago and far away as I walked back to the tiny parking lot, got in my car, and headed home.
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All Things Work Together


Jackson’s reputation increased slowly after Manassas. At first, he had been part of the general glow of Southern victory, his pivotal role in the battle known to only a few. As the summer wore on, however, he was talked and written about more and more. The seed of what would become his legendary status grew. A big part of it had to be the nickname. No professional PR team could have created a better one.


His letters to his wife reveal the struggle between his humanity and his ideals. On the one hand, he knew exactly what he had done militarily and the part he had played in the victory. Opposing that was a Christian humility that, while perhaps innate, had been nurtured by years of prayer, meditation, and practice. Jackson had an ego, but he disciplined it even more sternly than he did his soldiers. “Let others speak praise, not myself,” he had written Anna in an already alluded to letter immediately after the battle. He enlarged on that in a letter on August 5:




It is not to be expected that I should receive the credit that Gen. Beauregard or Johnston would, because I am under them, but I am thankful to an ever kind Heavenly Father that He makes me content to await His own good time & pleasure for commendation, knowing that “all things work together for any good.”1





The verse he alludes to at the end is from the eighth chapter of Romans: “And we know that all things work together for good to them that love God, to them who are the called according to his purpose.”


The verse was Jackson’s favorite. That he could believe it is both amazing and admirable. Even the short list of his personal tragedies is daunting: His father and a sister died of typhoid fever when he was two; his mother, following a difficult childbirth, when he was six. He lost his brother Warren at seventeen. For almost all of his life he was very close to his sister, Laura. The war drove a wedge between them and they never saw each other after its outbreak. A staunch Unionist, she expressed little remorse following his death in 1863.


Jackson’s first child was stillborn; his first wife died after the birth. When he married again, the couple’s first child, a daughter, lived less than a month. Personally, he suffered from a multitude of ailments—some imaginary, many real—throughout most of his life. Add to all this the not inconsiderable humiliation of a decade spent teaching at the Virginia Military Institute as “Tom Fool” Jackson, the butt of classroom jokes and the object of more than a few students’ disrespect. While cadets had mixed feelings about him—biographer Robertson avers that “the number of opinions [were] equal to those that expressed them”—his classroom performance was so notorious that some alumni actually tried to have him removed in 1856.2


Jackson had to have been conscious of his ineptitude as a teacher, just as he was conscious, after Manassas, of his military prowess. Recognition would come in God’s time—and if it didn’t, he would find a way to accept it the way he had come to accept all the other trials of his life.


One way he always coped was through hard work. After his parents died, he lived with his uncle Cummins Jackson on a large farm. Although loving, the relationship was mainly one of benign neglect. Nor was there much opportunity for the ambitious Jackson in the mountainous area around Clarksburg in what was then western Virginia.


In 1842, when Jackson was eighteen, he was able to obtain a congressional appointment to the U.S. Military Academy at West Point. Country schooling had so ill prepared him that he barely passed the entrance examination. He started near the bottom of his class in all subjects. With what one fellow student described as a “terrible earnestness,” he studied incredibly hard, working by firelight most nights long after lights-out at 10 p.m.


At that time, West Point had “one of the most demanding academic programs in America.” His fellow cadets in the Class of 1846 were “some of the brightest and cultured young men in the nation.” They included George B. McClellan and George Pickett. A. P. Hill and Ambrose Burnside graduated the following year. U. S. Grant’s last year was Jackson’s first.


In a conversation following Jackson’s death, Grant praised his “indomitable energy” as a student, saying that Jackson was “a sterling, manly cadet [who] enjoyed the respect of everyone who knew him.”3 Respected, but also an occasional object of fun. One account has him wrestling with a difficult mathematical problem at the blackboard, sweating so profusely that “he threatened to flood the entire room.”


Cadets marveled at his general oddness. Jackson suffered from dyspepsia, the Victorian term for indigestion. Many of his most famous eccentricities were dietary. He seems to have subsisted for long periods on stale bread and water or buttermilk. In later years, if invited to a dinner party, he would sometimes bring his own stale bread, to the distress of the hostess.4


Jackson’s class rank rose slowly as his knowledge grew. At the end of four years, he was seventeenth out of fifty-nine. “More than one observer was convinced that had the West Point curriculum lasted another year, the pitifully prepared mountain boy of 1842 would have graduated at the top of his class.”5
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The aftermath of the battle was also a time of intense work. Unlike many Southerners, Jackson did not see First Manassas as decisive. It was indeed a Southern victory, but the fruits of victory did not come—most importantly the European recognition that the Confederates needed so desperately. Received wisdom on the topic said that Europe, England in particular, depended on the South. Textiles drove their economy. Without Southern cotton, the mills would stand idle. Cotton was King.


Not exactly. Southerners had overplanted the kingly crop, so European warehouses were full and the mills rolled on. In any case, for Europe, the moral issue of slavery trumped the economic loss, which actually occurred later, in 1862, when the surplus was depleted and the Union blockade became effective.6


Confederates also thought the battle had proved the superiority of Southern arms. Hadn’t the cowardly Yankees turned and fled?


They had; but until that point they had fought bravely and well, almost winning the battle early on. Demoralized but resolved, they weren’t going away. Volunteers poured in, and Lincoln appointed a new commander, the youthful and dynamic George B. McClellan, who showed real promise of being able to turn things around.


Far more than others, Jackson was preparing for a long, hard struggle and a different type of war. He drilled his men relentlessly and enforced strict discipline. Furloughs were granted liberally in most of the Southern armies. Not under Jackson. When Colonel Kenton Harper learned that his wife was gravely ill, he applied to Jackson for emergency leave to return home to Staunton. His request was denied. The desperate Harper appealed to Jackson personally.


“General, General, my wife is dying! I must see her!”


Relating the anecdote, Jackson staff officer Henry Kyd Douglas said, “A wave of sadness and grief passed over the face of the General but for a moment, and then in cold, merciless tones he replied, ‘Man, man, do you love your wife more than your country?’ and turned away.”


Harper resigned from the army. His wife died before he could return home. Although Jackson biographer Robertson correctly classifies the story as “hearsay”—Douglas wasn’t present—it has the ring of truth, particularly Jackson’s moment of soul-searching before his pronouncement. Douglas concluded: “The wife died and that soldier never forgave Stonewall Jackson.”7


One wonders if he ever forgave himself. This is the essence of Jackson: It’s easy to penetrate beyond the stern exterior, but which of the layers beneath contain the real man? Or do they all? The more you study him, the more interesting he becomes. Even a cursory acquaintance gives the lie to any simple analysis, be it “Christian warrior,” “military genius,” or filmmaker Ken Burns’s famous, overtly hostile “pious, blue-eyed killer.”


Jackson is far more complex than any sound bite.
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While Jackson could not go to see his own wife, Anna, she could come to him, for a ten-day visit in mid-September. Traveling by train, Anna was rightfully apprehensive to be the lone woman among masses of soldiers, and was relieved when a family friend, Captain J. Harvey White, happened up the aisle. Because of a miscommunication, Jackson did not meet her when she arrived at Manassas, and she continued on to Fairfax Station, which she found “converted into a vast military camp, the place teeming with soldiers, and the only house visible from the depot being used as a hospital.”


They spent the night on the train, soldiers coming through the car to gawk at the novel sight of a female, until Captain White locked the doors. The next day Anna stayed for a while in a room that Captain White procured for her in the hospital. She said it was “dismal… the one small window in the room revealing the spectacle of a number of soldiers in the yard, busily engaged in [her emphasis] making coffins for their dead comrades.”


When Jackson arrived they attended—surprise!—a church service, which Anna declared “delightful.” Indeed, the whole visit was suffused with the rosy glow appropriate to a reunited loving couple who had only been married slightly more than four years. Anna described it using words like “grand,” “splendid,” and “beautiful.” Her mood even transcended a tour of the battlefield itself: “Much of the debris of the conflict still remained: the old Henry house was riddled with shot and shell; the carcasses of the horses, and even some of the bones of the poor human victims, were to be seen.”8


The visit ended abruptly when the army was ordered closer to Washington. Jackson continued to pour out his heart to Anna in frequent letters. Official duties continued; clerical visitors were a welcome distraction. When the editor and Presbyterian minister Dr. William Brown came to visit, the religious conversations continued into the night when he “shared a blanket” with Stonewall. (Soldiers of the period frequently slept together for warmth, and, possessing different mores, were unselfconscious about it.)


Brown and Jackson were deep in conversation about the men and how to promote religion among them when the general suddenly broke off and started talking about himself. He confided that he often went out alone in the woods to pray: “I find that it greatly helps me in fixing my mind and quickening my devotions to give articulate utterance to my prayers, and hence I am in the habit of going off into the woods, where I can be alone and speak audibly to myself the prayers I would pour out to my God.” He added that he kept his eyes open to keep from running into trees and stumps: “Upon investigating the matter I do not find that the Scriptures require us to close our eyes in prayer.”


Jackson concluded that this religious talk therapy was “delightful and profitable.” Overall, he spent a tremendous, almost monastic amount of time in prayer—in his tent at night, particularly before a battle; on the battlefield itself, where it was often remarked upon by soldiers; and throughout the day. “Whenever I take a draught of water I always pause, as my palate receives the refreshment, to lift up my heart to God in thanks and prayer for the water of life.”9


Jackson had another similar and remarkable habit. As a professor, he spent an hour each night “in perfect abstraction,” with his chair turned to the wall. Anna asserted that he was reviewing his lessons for the next day’s teaching,10 but the practice seems far more meditative than academic. He continued it, with slight variations, during the war. The night before the Battle of Front Royal, in the Valley Campaign, General Richard Taylor wrote that he “watched Jackson. For hours he sat silent and motionless, with eyes fixed on the fire.”11


The time spent in quiet contemplation—and active introspection—added to the stability and strength of Jackson’s character. In prayer, aligning himself with the Christian tradition, he became part of a larger, sustaining whole, the “cloud of witnesses” mentioned in the twelfth chapter of Hebrews in the New Testament. Jackson lived in a religious age, and we in a secular, but there is much for even present-day nonbelievers to learn from him about coping with loss and finding a source of strength outside oneself.


Unlike Jackson, I am a haphazard believer. The certainty fades from my faith in times of crisis. I remember vividly how, when my mother died, I could see nothing beyond this life but a huge void. Holding her hand in the hospital, I thought that if I let go she would just drop off into the darkness.


Jackson wasn’t afraid of death, his own or that of others. He was hurt terribly by his mother’s loss, and that of his first wife, children, and others, but he transcended grief through religion. I have had glimpses of that kind of faith, but it’s not something I live with day to day. His steadfast convictions are one of the main reasons I’m attracted to him.


Maybe I’d get something of Jackson’s mojo if I immersed myself in his legacy.
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Jackson’s promotion finally came. In November 1861, he was made a major general and put in command of the western part of Virginia. It was a mixed blessing. He would be in charge of a huge area—six thousand square miles, the left flank of the Confederacy, threatened by Yankees from across the Potomac—but hardly any soldiers to defend it. Richmond must have thought him capable or they would not have given him the assignment. The bonus for the higher-ups was that it got an overly aggressive commander away from the capital. Jackson had made no secret of his impatience with Davis’s wait-and-see-what-the-Europeans-will-do strategy. He had wanted to attack Washington in the aftermath of Manassas. Now he would have plenty to do in the Valley and be far enough away so as not to embarrass the administration.


To say that he had bonded with his men was an understatement. He was Stonewall. They were the Stonewall Brigade. Now it was time for him to say farewell to his brigade command. He spoke individually to groups of officers. Then it was time to address the troops. Mounted on Little Sorrel, he gave a moving speech, which ended:




In the Army of the Shenandoah you were the First Brigade; in the Army of the Potomac you were the First Brigade; in the second corps of this army you are the First Brigade; you are the first brigade in the affections of your General; and I hope by your future deeds and bearing you will be handed down to posterity as the First Brigade in our second War of Independence. Farewell!12





Many soldiers cried, and many reported that Jackson had tears in his eyes as well. His men cheered him with the Rebel yell as he rode away.
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Fearful Odds


Jackson’s emotional farewell occurred on November 4. On November 5, the Stonewall Brigade was ordered to follow him to Winchester, the town that would be his headquarters in the Shenandoah Valley. They got the news November 7. Many of them expressed their happiness by getting spectacularly drunk en route, and the brigade dribbled intoxicated soldiers all the way to the Valley.


Jackson, with two aides, had traveled by train to Strasburg, where they disembarked, obtained horses, and rode what must have been an exhausting eighteen miles to Winchester, arriving at the Taylor Hotel around midnight.


The next day, Jackson quickly discovered that his work would be hindered by hordes of curious townspeople. He was grateful when a wounded officer, Colonel Lewis T. Moore, convalescing in Richmond, offered his house for a headquarters. “Alta Vista” was off the beaten path, close to Winchester’s largest Confederate encampment, and only six blocks from the Kent Street Presbyterian Church. Jackson’s office was on the first floor, his bedroom on the second.
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Today, the Taylor Hotel is freshly renovated, consisting mostly of condos, with the exterior looking pretty much as it did during the war. A three-story brick building, it has a three-story porch along the front with railings and imposing white pillars, an Old South setting evocative of hoop-skirted belles and mint juleps—or, in Jackson’s case, glasses of water. Plans on getting a peek at the inside were quashed when my wife, Catherine, and I discovered that the building’s restaurant had recently closed. We contented ourselves with reading a wayside exhibit and staring up the windows of Number 23, the corner room where Jackson and his aides spent the night.


The Stonewall Jackson’s Headquarters Museum—the Moore House—less than a half a mile away, was more welcoming. We visited several times with a different docent for each visit. The most personable was Joanne Roulette. Her interest in the Civil War started with visits to her grandfather’s farm, which was part of the Antietam battlefield. Enthusiastic and vivacious, she is an accomplished visual artist who also makes period clothing for herself and the other interpreters.


Jackson spent much of the winter of 1861–62 at the Moore House. It was from here that he launched his campaign into northwestern Virginia, capturing Bath—now Berkeley Springs, West Virginia—and Romney. By no means a Southern mansion, the Moore House is a rather comfortable upper-middle-class Victorian home. Full of relics, evocative and moving, it is a place where an active imagination can slip easily into the past.


The desk on which Jackson worked is in his downstairs office, his prayer desk in another first-floor room. Touring, I touched both surreptitiously, but received no psychic jolt. Roulette made much of the wallpaper in his office, which Jackson described in a letter to Anna as “elegant gilt paper. I don’t remember to have ever seen a more beautiful papering.” Actress Mary Tyler Moore, a descendant of Colonel Moore, contributed funds to have the house turned into a museum. She had the paper, depicting colorful twining vines and leaves, replicated by a firm in California. Today the re-creation adorns the office walls.


Roulette departed from the Jackson script to tell a story about Mary Greenhow Lee, one of the “Devil Diarists of Winchester”—ardent secessionists who plagued Union soldiers with attitude and pen. Mary Lee defiantly flew the Confederate flag during one of Winchester’s many Union occupations. She was finally prevailed upon to take it down. The Yankees afterward searched her house, looking for the flag.


“The flag could not be found,” Roulette told our group. “Do you know why?” She raised her skirt to show the battle flag sewn to her petticoat, provoking first gasps and then laughter from the people on the tour.
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There’s a lighthearted quality to the war at this point. It was still something of a lark, the prevailing mood not so different from that of the Union soldiers who broke ranks on their way to Manassas for berry picking. The shocking casualties from Shiloh in the west and the Seven Days and other bloody 1862 battles in the east were well over the horizon. The actors were somewhat different too: In the South, generals P. G. T. Beauregard and Joseph E. Johnston remained at their zenith. In the North, Lincoln had promoted McClellan to overall command after his successes in southwestern Virginia. Sent to reclaim that lost territory, Robert E. Lee fought the Battle of Cheat Mountain in September, an action that, even according to laudatory biographer Douglas Freeman, ended “ingloriously.”1 In Lee’s favor, it has been said that the weather was so bad that no one could have succeeded. One soldier claimed that it rained “thirty-two days in August.”2


One of Jackson’s big problems was keeping his soldiers, particularly the Stonewalls, out of Winchester. Whiskey and pretty girls, not to mention friends and family—the town was home to some of the men—were among the attractions. There were lots of comic episodes as the soldiers tried and succeeded in eluding Winchester’s militia guards.


Private John Opie of the 5th Virginia tells of learning the password to leave the camp by eavesdropping on the sentinels. Chalk-drawn epaulets couldn’t be distinguished from the real thing in the dark; the filched officer’s saber was the genuine article: “and there was the full-fledged lieutenant—sword, shoulder-straps, and countersign. The objective point, Winchester; the attraction, the beautiful girls of the town.”3


He relates another tale about a time when his officers obtained several kegs of “fine old rye” and didn’t offer to share with the enlisted men. Opie and his cohorts pulled some pegs up from the back of the officers’ tent, rolled out a keg, filled some buckets, and had their own party. They made a campfire “that resembled Vesuvius, and raised Cain; but, as the officers of the regiment were engaged in the same meritorious business, we escaped punishment.”4


A much more serious business involved a drunken soldier, James A. Miller, who shot his company commander, Captain John Henderson. The bullet shattered Henderson’s elbow and permanently paralyzed his right arm. A court-martial sentenced Miller to death by firing squad.


There were many calls for leniency. Among the hardest to resist for Jackson must have been the visit from Dr. James R. Graham, the minister of Kent Street Presbyterian Church, with whom he had already formed a bond, and Colonel John Preston, his chief of staff and an old Lexington friend and VMI colleague—actually the main founder of the institution. Dr. Graham wrote later that Miller’s assertion that he would rather “die as a soldier on the field of battle, and not as a dog at the muzzles of the muskets of his own comrades” deeply moved the general: “His voice quivered and there was moisture in his eyes.”


But Jackson let the sentence stand. “In this war we contend against fearful odds,” Graham has him saying. “Our soldiers are brave, but undisciplined; and discipline is essential to success. In an army, resistance to lawful authority is a grave offense. To pardon it would be to encourage insubordination and ruin our cause.”


While Jackson was no mean wordsmith, he always grew more eloquent when quoted by the Presbyterian ministers with whom he was invariably surrounded. Still, the sentiments, if not the exact words, were certainly his.


The story has a tragic coda. At Jackson’s suggestion, a request for clemency was sent to Jefferson Davis, who pardoned Miller. Word didn’t get back to Winchester, however, because the courier got drunk and didn’t arrive until after the execution. No one blamed Jackson for Miller’s death, but they almost killed the messenger when he finally arrived from Richmond: “He was met by a committee of infuriated citizens and warned to leave town immediately.”5
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Jackson was thinking of attacking Romney almost as soon as he arrived in Winchester.6 Some 4,000 Union soldiers were stationed there, on the border between the United and Confederate states, only a little more than forty miles away. They were harassing the local secessionists—fewer in number than the Confederates liked to think—and protecting the strategic Baltimore and Ohio Railroad, which Jackson wanted to wreck. Worst of all, Federal soldiers in Romney could unite with others on the border, then maneuver southeast to threaten Winchester, which was not only his headquarters but the strategic key to the lower Shenandoah Valley. (The northern part of the Valley is counterintuitively called the “lower” because the Shenandoah River flows north.)


On November 20, Jackson sent a plan for what came to be called “The Romney Expedition” up the chain of command. He noted that it would involve the sacrifice “of much personal comfort” for his soldiers. That would turn out to be one of the great understatements of the war.


Richmond gave the plan lukewarm approval. One of its provisions involved General W. W. Loring bringing his 5,000 soldiers from the southwest mountains to join Jackson. Loring was a career army officer who had lost an arm and been brevetted for bravery in Mexico. His support for the project was as reluctant as Richmond’s, and his participation was correspondingly lackluster. It took most of December for him to move his soldiers the two hundred-plus miles to Winchester. In the meantime, Jackson received word that the Federals in Romney had been reinforced, their numbers now 11,000.7


Anna arrived in early December, a welcome distraction from Jackson’s frustration with the slow start of his offensive. Jackson had already become close friends with Reverend James Graham, the Presbyterian minister who lived only two houses away. Jackson and Anna would shortly move in with the Grahams, an arrangement Anna found especially congenial. “With the exception of the Romney expedition,” she wrote, “there was nothing to mar the perfect enjoyment of those three blessed months.”8


The expedition itself finally creaked into motion on New Year’s Day. The morning was mild, in the fifties, so soldiers left their overcoats for the supply train wagons. These would be sorely missed as the temperature dropped through the afternoon. Confirming the cynical military maxim “Hurry up and wait,” some units started ten hours behind schedule. The strung-out column covered only eight miles, camping at Pughtown, which is now Gainesboro. With their wagons miles behind, soldiers spoon-slept without cover on the frozen ground.
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Route 522 travels northwest out of Winchester. Catherine and I bought gas at Stonewall Plaza, then drove a few miles to explore Gainesboro, an unincorporated cluster of houses off the main road. A dearth of commemorative signage signaled our approach to Union territory—in the Valley and the Tidewater, a Jacksonian sneeze rates a historic marker. In Clarksburg, West Virginia, the site of the house where he was born gets only a small plaque. There is a fine equestrian statue of him in full gallop in front of the courthouse. Hard-looking women smoke heavily nearby, awaiting the outcome of their trials.


Some soldiers must have slept in the hollows of the still-active Back Creek Quaker Cemetery overlooking Gainsboro. I parked, opened the gate, and walked past a mixture of well-tended markers and neglected tombstones leaning drunkenly this way and that. Southern heritage was invoked by a Confederate battle flag etched into the tombstone of a young man who had died at twenty in 2014. His family’s votive offerings included his Mello Yello camo cap, a shotgun shell, and a picture of him with a trophy buck. Saddest of all was the pumpkin inscribed with a Sharpie: “We miss you Daddy,” followed by the names of his two children. The second time I visited was right after Christmas when I noted the addition of a big jingle bell.


I couldn’t help but think of young Confederate soldiers, many of whom had left wives and children at home and would die an equally untimely death.


Nearby was a stone with an incised banjo and guitar. A young man wrote about his grandfather: “I miss the smell of sawdust and the sound of van wheels on a dirt road, guitar picking beside a camp fire, your jokes and stories… I can never look at a river without thinking of you fishing… you had a creative, gentle spirit… the days I spent with you were the best in my life.”


Part of the old man’s arrowhead collection was also left by the marker. Itching to take one, I restrained myself, knowing it would be disrespectful. I did take photographs with my phone. The one of the grandfather’s stone shows my reflection on the inscription. The epitaph reminded me of how close I was to my own grandfather. My interest in history has a lot to do with him, the relics I found in his fields and the stories he told when we were together. I meditated for a moment on how the richness of that relationship nurtured me—in contrast with the orphaned Jackson, who lacked not only doting grandparents, but mother and father as well. It’s easy to see how their absence made him especially value home and family—“He was intensely fond of his home,” wrote Anna, “and it was there he found his greatest happiness”9—but I also wondered if that early pain of loss was responsible, in a compensatory way, for his incredible willpower, self-control, and ambition.
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It snowed on the soldiers the second day of the march. The temperature didn’t rise above twenty-seven degrees.10 Wagons carrying the food, blankets, and discarded overcoats were far behind. Wind blew snow into the men’s faces. They suffered greatly, making only seven miles before going into another cheerless camp at Unger’s Store.


Loring halted a few miles short of the assigned bivouac. Jackson was furious and ordered him to bring his men forward in the darkness. Furious himself, Loring obeyed, but not before bad-mouthing Jackson in front of his troops: “By God, sir, this is the damndest outrage ever perpetuated in the annals of history, keeping my men out here in the cold without food!”11


Sam R. Watkins, who fought under Loring, is the author of Co. Aytch, one of my favorite Civil War books. Wrote Watkins: “It was the coldest winter known to the oldest inhabitant of these regions. As [the soldiers] walked along icicles hung from their clothing, guns, and knapsacks; many were badly frost bitten, and I heard of many freezing to death along the road side. My feet peeled off like a peeled onion on that march, and I have not recovered from its effects until this day.”12


The snow on the road was packed into a solid sheet of ice. Men and horses slipped, slid, and fell. Riders were injured; wagons and artillery stalled and stopped. Jackson got points for dismounting and personally putting his shoulder to the wheels. That was practically the only goodwill he accrued. Angry, disgruntled men muttered “Tom Fool Jackson” and worse whenever he passed.


He continued to have problems getting soldiers moving when he needed to. Before Romney, he wanted to attack the Union-held town of Bath. On the morning of January 3, with the temperature at seventeen degrees, he ordered the men to grab some rations from the supply wagons and get on the move. Richard Garnett, who had assumed command of the Stonewalls after Jackson, told the men to take the time to make fires and actually cook their food.


Riding back along the column, Jackson confronted him, demanding a reason for the delay.


“I have halted to let the men cook their rations,” Garnett explained.


“There is no time for that.”


“But it is impossible for the men to march further without them.”


“I never found anything impossible with this brigade.”13


To attack Bath, the soldiers needed to cover some sixteen miles on January 3. They didn’t. In late afternoon, advance troops encountered Union pickets about three miles outside of town. There was a minor firefight. The element of surprise—and the column’s momentum—was lost.


Colonel William Gilham, former commandant of VMI, advanced his men tentatively toward the enemy. Jackson ordered him to get moving, but before he could make an attack, Loring ordered Gilham to halt for the night.


This led to another testy confrontation between Jackson and Loring. “If you should be killed,” complained the latter, “I would find myself in command of an army of the object of whose movements I know nothing!” Jackson hadn’t told Loring—or anyone else, for that matter—where he was going. He didn’t now, and rode away without imparting anything further.


Three inches of snow fell on the sleeping soldiers that night. After digging themselves out the next morning, they were finally in a position to attack. Loring and the Stonewall Brigade were to go straight into Bath. The militia was to swing around and attack from the west.


When the militia encountered the Federals, both sides fired a volley, then fled in opposite directions.


Gilham, leading Loring’s advance, stalled when he encountered rearguard resistance a half mile outside of town. He halted, did nothing, and didn’t tell Jackson he had stopped.


Time passed. Finally, in midafternoon, Jackson himself rode forward to lead the charge. John H. Worsham was one of the soldiers Jackson gathered up and led into the town: “He ordered us to double quick, and we soon ran. This was a grand sight.… When we reached the top of a ridge, we could see the Yankees disappearing at the far end of a field, going toward the Potomac River.”14


Almost the entire Federal garrison escaped because of the delayed and disorganized assault. Confederates looted what the Yankees didn’t carry away. Later, Jackson ordered up his artillery and shelled the Federals in Hancock, a few miles from Bath on the Maryland side of the river.
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Icicles of Blood


Many members of the Stonewall Brigade spent the night in Strother’s Berkeley Hotel, a favored treatment that did not go unnoticed by Loring’s men, who gathered around outdoor fires, struggling not to freeze to death as temperatures dropped to eight degrees. It snowed again, the flakes “as large as goose eggs,” according to Sam Watkins. He tells a macabre story about going to relieve an outpost in the middle of the night:




There were just eleven of them. Some were sitting down and some were laying down; but each and every one was as cold and as hard frozen as the icicles that hung from their hands and faces and clothing—dead! Two of them, a little in advance of the others, were standing with their guns in their hands, as cold and as hard frozen as a monument of marble—standing sentinel with loaded guns in their frozen hands!1





The anecdote has a tall tale quality that makes me question its veracity, though the war certainly has enough equally bizarre and horrible stories attested to by multiple witnesses. True or not, it has an iconic quality that somehow sums up the hardships of the campaign.


Henry Kyd Douglas, Jackson’s young staff member, has a contrasting comic tale that may or may not be from the same night (the postwar reminiscences are hard to harmonize). Douglas’s men were stationed near Hancock to guard against a Union counteroffensive. Deciding that there was really no danger, Douglas told his soldiers to get some rest. “In the middle of the night I felt moisture on my face and covering myself from head to foot in a blanket I slept soundly.” Douglas woke early next morning “oppressed with heat. Rising up and throwing off my blanket, I scattered to the air and ground perhaps five inches of snow that had fallen on me.”


The snow had insulated him from the cold. Douglas looked around. “The scene before me was a weird one. Great logs of men were lying in all directions, covered over with snow and as quiet as graves. Now and then one would break out and look around him with amazement.” Then the company comedian woke up. “Great Jehosophat!” he yelled, rousing the rest of the sleepers. “The Resurrection!”2


The Confederates threw a few more shells into Hancock and, more productively, burned a B&O Railroad bridge and tore up track and telegraph lines. Jackson contemplated attacking across the river, but abandoned the idea when Union reinforcements arrived. He would return to Unger’s, then attack Romney.
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Berkeley Springs today is a charming town with lots of elderly buildings. Mineral-rich waters, which emerge from the earth at a constant seventy-four degrees, flow through the spacious lawns of the old spa before becoming the town’s municipal water source. A picturesque gazebo overlooks the stream, which also flows through a natural stone “bathtub” used by Native Americans and George Washington.


There is a Civil War Trails marker by the downtown visitor center, but nothing about Jackson among the office’s plethora of brochures. They do advertise a “thriving arts community,” and multiple massage therapists with alphabets of credentials following their names. An annual “Festival of Light Psychic Fair and Alternative Healing Expo” has among its many attractions a “Crystal Alley” with “jewelry, crystals, essential oils, and fairy furniture.” Fairy furniture?


This New Age airiness contrasts with the earthy good humor of the Berkeley Springs Brewing Company, whose generous signature glass is decorated with a huge, unmissable “BS.”


In other words: lots of local color, but barely a trace of Jackson.
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James I. Robertson calls the day of the countermarch to Unger’s “the worst of the campaign,”3 which is saying a lot. It snowed again. Wind chill made the twenty-degree temperature seem like zero. “The march was a terrible one,” wrote John H. Worsham. “The road had become one sheet of ice from marching over it.” Horses and men slipped and fell, and again, there were lots of broken bones. To gain solid footing, soldiers led horses along ditches and through woods adjacent to the road. On hills, they cut small trenches across the roads for traction.4


The march continued into the night. Soldiers’ icy beards glistened “like crystals” in the moonlight; icicles of blood hung from the horses.5
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